<u>No. 44135-7-II</u>

COURT OF APPEALS, DIVISION II OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent,

vs.

Crystal Luttrell,

Appellant.

Cowlitz County Superior Court Cause No. 11-1-01134-5

The Honorable Judge Stephen M. Warning

Appellant's Opening Brief

Jodi R. Backlund Manek R. Mistry Skylar T. Brett Attorneys for Appellant

BACKLUND & MISTRY

P.O. Box 6490 Olympia, WA 98507 (360) 339-4870 backlundmistry@gmail.com

ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

- 1. Ms. Luttrell's conviction infringed her Fourteenth Amendment right to due process because the court's instructions to the jury relieved the prosecution of its obligation to disprove self-defense.
- 2. The court's instructions failed to make the self-defense standards manifestly clear to the average juror.
- 3. The trial court erred by failing to instruct jurors that Ms. Luttrell's self-defense claim was to be evaluated from the standpoint of a reasonably prudent person, taking into consideration facts and circumstances known to the person prior to the alleged assault.
- 4. The trial court erred by giving Instruction No.17.
- 5. The trial court deprived Ms. Luttrell of her Fourteenth Amendment right to due process by refusing to hold a hearing after a juror heard outside information about the case.
- 6. Ms. Luttrell's conviction was obtained in violation of her right to a jury trial under the Sixth and Fourteenth Amendments and Wash. Const. art. I, §§ 21 and 22.
- 7. Ms. Luttrell's conviction was obtained in violation of her right to due process under the Fourteenth Amendment and Wash. Const. art. I, § 3.
- 8. The trial court erroneously admitted improper opinion testimony.
- 9. The trial court improperly permitted Mudge (the bouncer) to opine that Baldwin was dizzy as a result of being hit, rather than because she'd been drinking.
- 10. Mudge's "expert" opinion was inadmissible under ER 702 because it lacked an adequate foundation.
- 11. Detective Webb improperly opined that Baldwin appeared to have been attacked and that Ms. Luttrell did not.
- 12. Under the facts of this self-defense case, the prosecutor's and law enforcements officers' references to Baldwin as "the victim" amounted to improper opinions on guilt and on Baldwin's credibility.

- 13. The prosecutor committed misconduct that infringed Ms. Luttrell's Fourteenth Amendment right to due process.
- 14. The prosecutor improperly asked Ms. Luttrell to comment on another witness's credibility.
- 15. The prosecutor committed misconduct by improperly "testifying" to facts not in evidence.
- 16. The prosecutor committed misconduct by improperly suggesting that facts not in evidence established Ms. Luttrell's guilt.
- 17. The prosecutor committed misconduct by misstating the law of selfdefense and improperly shifting the burden of proof.
- 18. Ms. Luttrell was denied her Sixth and Fourteenth Amendment right to the effective assistance of counsel.
- 19. Defense counsel was ineffective for failing to object to improper opinion testimony on Ms. Luttrell's guilt and on Baldwin's credibility.
- 20. Defense counsel was ineffective for failing to object to the omission of critical language from the court's instructions defining self-defense.
- 21. Defense counsel was ineffective for failing to propose proper self-defense instructions.
- 22. Defense counsel was ineffective for failing to object to prosecutorial misconduct in closing argument.

ISSUES PERTAINING TO ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

 Self-defense is to be evaluated from the standpoint of a reasonably prudent person, taking into consideration the facts and circumstances known to the person prior to the alleged assault. The court's instructions in this case failed to make that standard manifestly clear. Did the court's instructions relieve the prosecution of its burden to disprove self-defense and violate Ms. Luttrell's Fourteenth Amendment right to due process?

- 2. Due process guarantees an accused person an impartial jury free from outside influences. In this case, the trial court refused to hold a hearing after a juror heard outside information about Ms. Luttrell's case. Did the trial judge's refusal to hold a hearing violate Ms. Luttrell's Fourteenth Amendment right to due process?
- 3. The improper admission of opinion testimony on an accused person's guilt or the credibility of a witness violates due process and the jury trial right. In this case, two witnesses improperly provided prejudicial opinions on Ms. Luttrell's guilt and the credibility of witnesses. Did the improper admission of opinion testimony violate Ms. Luttrell's Fourteenth Amendment right to due process and her state and federal jury trial right?
- 4. Prosecutorial misconduct can deny an accused person a fair trial. Here, the prosecutor improperly asked Ms. Luttrell to comment on another witness's credibility, "testified" to facts not in evidence, suggested that facts not in evidence supported Ms. Luttrell's guilt, misstated the law of self-defense, and shifted the burden of proof. Did the prosecutor's misconduct infringe Ms. Luttrell's Fourteenth Amendment right to due process?
- 5. The Sixth and Fourteenth Amendments guarantee an accused person the effective assistance of counsel. In this case, defense counsel failed to object to improper opinion testimony, failed to object to prosecutorial misconduct, failed to object to the omission of critical language from the court's self-defense instructions, and failed to propose proper self-defense instructions. Was Ms. Luttrell denied her Sixth and Fourteenth Amendment right to the effective assistance of counsel?

STATEMENT OF FACTS AND PRIOR PROCEEDINGS

In October of 2011, Summer Baldwin was fired on her first day of work as a dancer at Bottoms Up in Portland. RP 30, 53. She had become intoxicated, and assaulted another employee named Crystal Luttrell. RP 53; RP 136-137.

Baldwin and Ms. Luttrell didn't see each other again for a month. In November, they ran into each other at a bar in Longview. RP 30-33, 36. Both women were with groups of their friends. One of Ms. Luttrell's friends believed that Baldwin had used a racial slur, and the two groups argued. RP 42-43, 56, 66; 127, 130-132.

The argument became physical. The bouncer at the bar, Brock Mudge, saw Baldwin and Ms. Luttrell yelling at each other. RP 66-67, 81. Baldwin, who was obviously intoxicated, accused Ms. Luttrell of getting her fired from Bottoms Up. RP 134-136. Mudge saw Baldwin shove Ms. Luttrell. RP 66-67, 81. Upon being pushed, Ms Luttrell struck Baldwin with a beer bottle. Glass became embedded in Baldwin's face. RP 45, 69; 136-138.

4

When police responded, Ms. Luttrell and her friends had left the bar. RP 72-73. Baldwin remained. She admitted to Officer Maini that she had assaulted Ms. Luttrell.¹ RP 124.

The state charged Ms. Luttrell with Assault in the Second Degree, with Assault in the Third Degree as an alternative charge. CP 1-2; RP 3. At trial, Ms. Luttrell claimed self-defense.

Before trial started, Ms. Luttrell moved for an order prohibiting state witnesses from referring to Baldwin as the "victim". Defense Motions in Limine, Supp. CP. The court granted the motion. RP 1. Despite this, the prosecutor and law enforcement witnesses referred to Baldwin as the "victim." This occurred five times in the jury's presence. RP 13, 21, 24, 112. Defense counsel objected only once; the objection was sustained. RP 112-113.

After jury selection, a juror said that she overheard Ms. Luttrell talking as she left the courthouse. RP 7-9. Apparently, Ms. Luttrell was talking about "stripping". The defense attorney asked the judge to inquire regarding what exactly had been heard and its possible impact on the juror. Judge Warning declined, stating: "if there is a problem, it's one that

¹ During cross-examination, Officer Maini said that Baldwin did not say that she had pushed Ms. Luttrell. RP 128.

Ms. Luttrell brought on herself, so she's going to have to live with it."² RP 9.

At trial, Mudge, the bouncer, opined that Baldwin acted dizzy and punch-drunk, and that this resulted from being hit with the bottle rather than from intoxication. RP 82-83. Ms. Luttrell's foundation objection was overruled. RP 83.

The state's last witness, Detective Ralph Webb, testified that he'd spoken with Ms. Luttrell, who told him she'd been attacked by Baldwin at the bar. RP 115. He testified that Ms. Lutrell did not appear as if she'd been attacked. Defense counsel did not object to this testimony. RP 115. Detective Webb also testified that Baldwin *did* appear as though she'd been attacked.³ RP 115.

Ms. Luttrell took the stand and told the jury that she acted in self defense. She confirmed that Baldwin had drunkenly assaulted her on the day Baldwin was let go from Bottoms Up. RP 136-137. She testified that her friends argued with Baldwin, but that she did not. RP 131-134. She described Baldwin pushing another person, and then coming "nose to

 $^{^2}$ The record does not indicate that Ms. Luttrell had previously been warned that jurors would be in public areas of the courthouse where they could overhear conversations. *See* RP 1-9.

³ Although the question posed was about Ms. Luttrell, Detective Webb quickly clarified that he'd been speaking about Baldwin.

nose" with her. RP 135-136. She told the jury that Baldwin "said we had unfinished business, and she pushed me." RP 136. She described the push as a 'shove,' and testified that she was terrified, in part because of the prior assault.⁴ RP 136-137.

On cross-examination, the prosecutor asked if she'd heard Mudge's testimony, and asked her to comment on the differences, describing the testimony as "incredibly different." RP 141-142.

Defense counsel did not file a set of proposed instructions. The court's instructions included a self-defense instruction that read as follows:

It is a defense to a charge of assault in the second degree, and assault in the third degree, as well as the lesser included offense of assault in the fourth degree that the force used was lawful is defined in this instruction.

The use of force upon or toward the person of another is lawful when used by a person who reasonably believes that he is about to be injured in preventing or attempting to prevent an offense against the person, and when the force is not more than necessary.

The person using the force may employ such force and means as a reasonably prudent person would use under the same or similar conditions as they appeared to the person, taking into consideration all of the facts and circumstances known to the person at the time of the incident.

The State has the burden of proving beyond a reasonable doubt that the force used by the defendant was

⁴ In the prior assault, Baldwin had pushed her, hit her in the face, and caused her to fall. RP 137.

not lawful. If you find that the State has not proved the absence of this defense beyond a reasonable doubt, it will be your duty to return a verdict of not guilty as to this charge. Instruction No. 17, Supp. CP.

In his closing argument, the prosecutor repeatedly argued that Ms. Luttrell could have avoided the conflict by leaving. He told the jury that she could have left the situation with Baldwin before it escalated into a physical fight, and that she did not. RP 161. He argued that her failure to leave was not reasonable. RP 161. He argued that if Ms. Luttrell really hadn't been involved in the argument with Baldwin, she should have left. He urged jurors to infer guilt from Ms. Luttrell's failure to use the "quick alternative" to exit. RP 165. Defense counsel did not object to any of these arguments. RP 161, 165.

Counsel did object when the prosecutor told jurors that Ms. Luttrell had stabbed Baldwin with the beer bottle. RP 159. The objection—facts not in evidence—was overruled when the judge said "[T]he jury will recall what the facts are." RP 159.

The jury returned two verdicts of guilty. RP 18. The court vacated the Assault Three conviction. CP 3-4. After sentencing, Ms. Luttrell timely appealed. CP 3-14, 15-29.

ARGUMENT

- I. THE COURT'S SELF-DEFENSE INSTRUCTIONS DID NOT MAKE THE LEGAL STANDARD MANIFESTLY APPARENT TO THE AVERAGE JUROR.
- A. Standard of Review.

Jury instructions are reviewed *de novo* in the context of the

instructions as a whole. State v. McCreven, 170 Wn. App. 444, 461-62,

284 P.3d 378 (2012) review denied, 176 Wn.2d 1015, 297 P.3d 708

(2013). Instructions that misstate the law of self-defense create an error of

constitutional magnitude that may be raised for the first time on appeal.

State v. Kyllo, 166 Wn.2d 856, 863, 215 P.3d 177 (2009); RAP 2.5(a)(3).⁵

B. The trial court erroneously failed to instruct jurors to take into consideration all of the facts known to Ms. Luttrell prior to the alleged assault.

An accused person is entitled to have the jury instructed on the

defense theory of the case. U.S. Const. Amend XIV;⁶ State v. Harvill, 169

Wn.2d 254, 259, 234 P.3d 116 (2010). Failure to so instruct is reversible

error. Id.

⁵ In the alternative, if this issue is waived because of defense counsel's failure to propose proper instructions, that failure deprived Ms. Luttrell of the effective assistance of counsel. The invited error doctrine does not preclude review of an instructional error that is the result of ineffective assistance of counsel. *Kyllo*, 166 Wn.2d at 862.

⁶ See also Wash. Const. art. I, § 3.

Jury instructions on self-defense must do more than adequately set forth the law, they "must make the relevant legal standard manifestly apparent to the average juror." *McCreven*, 170 Wn. App. at 462 (internal citations omitted).

The self-defense standard involves both a subjective and an objective component. *State v. George*, 161 Wn. App. 86, 97, 249 P.3d 202 (2011). All facts and circumstances known to the accused are relevant to the subjective prong of the self-defense standard. *Id.* This includes events that occurred prior to the alleged assault, as reflected in the pattern instruction:

The person [using][or][offering to use] the force may employ such force and means as a reasonably prudent person would use under the same or similar conditions as they appeared to the person, taking into consideration all of the facts and circumstances known to the person at the time of [*and prior to*] the incident.

WPIC 17.02 (emphasis added).

In this case, Ms. Luttrell's self-defense theory turned on the fact that Baldwin had assaulted her in the past. RP 124, 136-37, 169, 171, 173-74. Defense counsel argued at length in closing that the prior assault had impacted Ms. Luttrell's understanding of the events surrounding the current incident, including her perception of the events leading up to the alleged assault. RP 173-74. The jury was not instructed, however, that the prior assault was relevant to Ms. Luttrell's self-defense claim. The court instructed the jury, using the language of WPIC 17.02, that the subjective prong for selfdefense relied on "all of the facts and circumstances" known to Ms. Luttrell "at the time of the incident." Instruction No. 17, Supp CP. The court did not include the language of the WPIC indicating that facts and circumstances arising *prior to* the incident were, likewise, legally relevant. Instruction No. 17, Supp CP.

Under the court's instructions, the legal standard for self-defense was not "manifestly apparent to the average juror." *McCreven*, 170 Wn. App. at 462. Ms. Luttrell's conviction must be reversed. *Id.* at 467.

II. THE COURT DEPRIVED MS. LUTTRELL OF HER FOURTEENTH AMENDMENT RIGHT TO DUE PROCESS BY REFUSING TO HOLD A HEARING AFTER A JUROR OVERHEARD OUTSIDE INFORMATION ABOUT THE CASE.

A. Standard of Review

Constitutional errors are reviewed *de novo*. *Bellevue School Dist*. v. *E.S.*, 171 Wn.2d 695, 702, 257 P.3d 570 (2011). Issues of law, as well as mixed questions of law and fact, are both reviewed *de novo*. *State v*. *Guevara*, 172 Wn. App. 184, 187, 288 P.3d 1167 (2012).⁷

⁷ Although a trial court's decision regarding whether to dismiss a juror is reviewed for abuse of discretion, that standard applies only after the trial court has held the necessary

B. Due process requires the court to hold a hearing whenever there is a reasonable possibility that a juror has been impermissibly exposed to outside influences.

Due process requires that an accused person receive a trial by an

impartial jury free from outside influences. U.S. Const. Amend XIV;⁸

Sheppard v. Maxwell, 384 U.S. 333, 362, 86 S.Ct. 1507, 16 L.Ed.2d 600

(1966). Furthermore, a trial judge has the duty

to excuse from further jury service any juror, who in the opinion of the judge, has manifested unfitness as a juror by reason of bias, prejudice, indifference, inattention, or any physical or mental defect or by reason of conduct or practices incompatible with proper and efficient jury service.

RCW 2.36.110. This provision places "a continuous obligation on the trial

court to excuse any juror who is unfit to perform the duties of a juror."

State v. Jorden, 103 Wn. App. 221, 227, 11 P.3d 866 (2000).⁹

A hearing in the trial court is the only appropriate forum for

determining whether a juror has been impermissibly exposed to outside

influence. Courts from other jurisdictions have explicitly held that a

factual inquiry is required when there is a suspicion of outside influence.

hearing. *See e.g. State v. Hopkins*, 156 Wn. App. 468, 232 P.3d 597 (2010). Here, the trial court's failure to hold a hearing presents a mixed question of law and fact.

⁸ Wash. Const. art. I, § 3.

⁹ Although the *Jorden* court upheld the trial court's refusal to *voir dire* a juror who had been sleeping during trial, the trial judge's decision was made only after an evidentiary hearing. *Jorden*, 103 Wn. App. at 228.

See e.g. State v. Loftin, 191 N.J. 172, 193-94, 922 A.2d 1210 (2007) ("...our courts have not hesitated to make inquiry of the jurors to ensure that they have not been fatally tainted"); *Tolbert v. United States*, 905 A.2d 186, 191 (D.C. 2006) ("In order to determine whether extraneous information has a prejudicial impact on the jury, the trial court should conduct a hearing"); *State v. Valcourt*, 792 A.2d 732, 735 (R.I. 2002) ("To determine a juror's impartiality, an appropriate *in camera* inquiry of the juror is necessary"); *State v. R.D.*, 169 N.J. 551, 558, 781 A.2d 37 (2001) ("The court is obliged to interrogate the juror, in the presence of counsel, to determine if there is a taint; if so, the inquiry must expand to determine whether any other jurors have been tainted thereby.").

The Washington cases addressing similar issues assume that a hearing will be conducted. *See e.g. Hopkins*, 156 Wn. App. 468 (court did not abuse its discretion by dismissing a juror who allegedly refused to deliberate and stated upon *voir dire* that she could not be impartial); *State v. Depaz*, 165 Wn.2d 842, 204 P.3d 217 (2009) (court did not err by dismissing a juror for misconduct during deliberation after questioning three jurors on the issue); *State v. Elmore*, 155 Wn.2d 758, 123 P.3d 72 (2005) (court applied the wrong standard in dismissing juror for misconduct after conducting *voir dire* of several jurors on the issue).

13

Here, one of the jurors was exposed to outside information

regarding the alleged assault and Ms. Luttrell's history as a stripper:

COURT: ... one of our jurors indicated that as she was leaving, she didn't realize she was as close as she was to the defendant, and overheard the defendant talking, apparently raising some issue about why did they bring up the issue about strippers. RP 7-8.

When defense counsel requested that the judge ask the juror whether the outside information affected her opinion of the case, the judge refused. RP 9. No record was made about whether the information would impact the juror's impartiality. RP 7-9. Instead, the court noted "if there's a problem, it's one that Ms. Luttrell brought on herself, so she's going to have to live with it." RP 9.¹⁰

It is the judge, however, and not the accused, who is responsible for ensuring that outside influences have not tainted the jury. *Sheppard*, 384 U.S. 333 ("The courts must take such steps by rule and regulation that will protect their processes from prejudicial outside influences. Neither prosecutors, counsel for the defense, the accused, witnesses, court staff nor enforcement officers coming under jurisdiction of the court should be permitted to frustrate its function.")

¹⁰ It is not clear whether the trial court relied on the invited error doctrine in making this determination. If so, that reliance was error. The invited error doctrine only applies when a party induces the *court* to err. *State v. Jones*, 144 Wn. App. 284, 298-99, 183 P.3d 207 (2008) (an accused person cannot invite the error of an unfair trial).

Prejudice is presumed when jurors overhear outside information that "besmirches the defendant's character." *United States v. Hall*, 85 F.3d 367, 371 (8th Cir. 1996). Once such a presumption is established, the prosecution bears the burden of establishing that extraneous juror contact was harmless. *Id.*

In Ms. Luttrell's case, no hearing was held. As a result, the state is unable to overcome the presumption of prejudice. Ms. Luttrell's conviction must be reversed and the case remanded for a new trial. *Id*.

III. MS. LUTTRELL WAS DENIED HER SIXTH AND FOURTEENTH AMENDMENT RIGHTS TO DUE PROCESS AND TO A JURY TRIAL BY THE ADMISSION OF IMPROPER OPINION TESTIMONY.

A. Standard of Review

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