NO. 44135-7-II
Cowlitz Co. Cause NO. 11-1-01134-5

**COURT OF APPEALS, DIVISION II
OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON**

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent,

v.

CRYSTAL LUTTRELL,

Appellant.

BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

SUSAN I. BAUR
Prosecuting Attorney
JASON LAURINE/ WSBA #36871
Deputy Prosecuting Attorney
Attorney for Respondent

Office and P. O. Address:
Hall of Justice
312 S. W. First Avenue
Kelso, WA 98626
Telephone: 360/577-3080

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

serious enough to warrant whatever action is requested. *Schoppert*, 362 F.3d 451 at 459.

In the case of extrinsic contact, a presumption of prejudice does not apply unless the extrinsic contact relates to factual evidence not developed at trial. *United States v. Hall*, 85 F.3d 367, 371(8th Cir.1996) (citing *United States v Cheyenne*, 855 F.2d 566, 567 (8th Cir.1988)). Assuming the juror did hear a conversation about a fight that occurred during Luttrell's years as a stripper, that juror also heard that same evidence during the trial. In fact, there was in-depth inquiry into that prior fight during direct and cross examination of the victim, Summer Baldwin, and of Luttrell. Nothing regarding the interaction and relationship between Luttrell and the victim was withheld from the jury. Moreover, any evidence connected with stripping was circumstantially connected to Luttrell's claim of self-defense. She used the prior confrontation between herself and the victim as evidence to support the reasonableness of her fear that she was about to be assaulted.

In *Hall*, where, at the time of sentencing the district court was informed by a single affidavit that a juror made her decision based on extrinsic evidence overheard and not admitted during the course of trial, the district court summarily ordered a new trial without first holding a hearing. The Court of appeals remanded the case to the district court for a

hearing because it felt the remedy was ordered based on insufficient evidence. 85 F.3d at 369. In order to impeach a jury's verdict, a defendant must produce evidence not barred and sufficient to prove grounds recognized as adequate to overturn the verdict. *Id.* at 370. The court held that a presumption of prejudice does not apply if extrinsic contact relates to evidence developed at trial. *Id.* at 371.

In *Schoppert*, where the defendant argued that he was denied his sixth amendment right to a fair trial when the jury possibly overheard bench conferences between the trial court and the attorneys, the Court held the defendant asked them to rule on a speculative theory. While a district court may hold a hearing to determine whether any private communications may have tainted a jury and prejudiced a defendant, trial judges are afforded considerable discretion in determining what steps, if any, are required to make certain that a jury is not tainted. 362 F.3d at 459.

In this case, because the trial had not commenced, the trial court determined that a better course to take was to persist with the continued admonishments that they are not to discuss the case with anyone. In addition, the jury is assumed to follow the jury instructions. Those instructions contained specific admonishments, sufficient to ensure they were not influenced by outside sources. Indeed, Instruction 1, WPIC 1.04, as read to the jury, instructed them:

It is your duty to decide the facts of this case based upon the evidence presented to you during this trial. It is also your duty to accept the law from my instructions, regardless of what you personally believe the law is or what you personally think it should be. You must apply the law from my instructions to the facts that you decide have been proved, and in this way decide the case.

....

The evidence that you are to consider during your deliberations consists of the testimony that you have heard from the witnesses, stipulations and the exhibits that I have admitted during the trial. If evidence was not admitted or stricken from the record, then you are not to consider it in reaching your verdict.
JURY INSTRUCTION 1

In addition to the continued admonishments, the jury was instructed on what evidence was to be considered in their deliberations. In this case, the topic of the issue brought before the court was discussed thoroughly in direct and cross examinations. Indeed, it was not evidence or an issue that was withheld from the jury's review. Consequently, the trial court did not abuse its discretion because there was no presumption of prejudice in this area of enquiry.

3. The court did not abuse its discretion when it admitted both Brock Mudge's and Detective Webb's observations of the injuries sustained by Baldwin and Luttrell.

In general, Appellate courts will not consider issues raised for the first time on appeal. *State v. Kirkman*, 159 Wn.2d 918, 926, 155 P.3d 125

(2007), RAP 2.5(a). But a party can raise an error for the first time on appeal if it is a manifest error affecting a constitutional right. *Kirkman*, 159 Wn.2d at 926, 155 P.3d 125; RAP 2(a)(3). Luttrell must show the constitutional error actually affected her rights at trial, thereby demonstrating the actual prejudice that makes an error “manifest” and allows review. *Kirkman*, 159 Wn.2d at 926-27. The manifest constitutional error exception to waiver of review is narrowly drawn and typically requires an explicit or nearly explicit statement on an ultimate issue. *Kirkman*, 159 Wn.2d at 936, 155 P.3d 125.

If a court determines the claims raises a manifest, constitutional error, it may still be subject to the harmless error analysis. *Id.* at 927, 155 P.3d 125.

Opinion testimony regarding a defendant’s guilt is reversible error if the testimony violates the defendant’s constitutional right to a jury trial, which includes the independent determination of the facts by the jury. *Kirkman*, 159 Wn.2d at 926-27. Generally, no witness may offer testimony in the form of opinion regarding the guilt or veracity of the defendant. That sort of testimony invades the exclusive province of the jury and is unfairly prejudicial to the defendant. *State v. Demery*, 144 Wn.2d 753, 759, 30 P.3d 1278 (2001). Neither a lay nor an expert witness may testify to his opinion as to the guilt of a defendant, whether by direct

statement or inference. *State v. Black*, 109 Wn.2d 336, 348, 745 P.2d 12 (1987).

Admission of witness opinion testimony on an ultimate fact, without objection, is not automatically reviewable as a manifest, constitutional error. *Kirkman*, 159 Wn.2d at 936. However, an explicit or nearly explicit opinion on the defendant's guilt or victim's credibility can constitute manifest error. *Id.*

A law enforcement officer's opinion testimony may be especially prejudicial because the officer's testimony often carries a special aura of reliability. *Kirkman*, 159 Wn.2d at 928, 155 P.3d 125.

a. The testimony of Brock Mudge was based on his training and experience and did not encompass an ultimate issue.

A trial court's ruling on the admissibility of opinion evidence is reviewed for abuse of discretion. *Demery*, 144 Wn.2d at 758.

Brock Mudge was the bouncer present at the time Luttrell assaulted the victim. He testified that he watched the Luttrell swing a beer bottle at the victim a number of times, that he broke up the altercation, and that he then cared for the victim following the altercation. RP 63-86. He also testified that the victim never swung a fist at Luttrell, never swung a bottle at Luttrell, and never punched or kicked Luttrell. His testimony

never approached the ultimate issue—whether Luttrell was guilty of assaulting the victim—it remained focused on his observations.

During cross examination, defense counsel opined in a question that alcohol intoxication could cause people to be dizzy or sway. RP 77. Mr. Mudge agreed. On re-direct, the State inquired about that line of questioning. RP-82. The State laid a foundation to show that Mudge understood the difference between alcohol-induced dizziness and dizziness caused by being hit with a bottle, and he based it on his training and experience. The testimony was based on his observations of the victim prior to the incident, her actions after the incident, and the observed changes in her behavior. RP 83.

Evidence Rule (ER) 701 allows testimony as to “opinions or inferences which are (a) rationally based on the perception of the witness, and (b) helpful to a clear understanding of the witness' testimony or the determination of a fact in issue.” Similarly, ER 704 provides that “testimony in the form of an opinion or inferences otherwise admissible is not objectionable because it embraces an ultimate issue to be decided by the trier of fact.” Case law establishes that the limits of ER 701 and ER 704 are exceeded when a witness testifies in the form of an opinion regarding guilt of the defendant, because such an opinion invades the exclusive province of the jury. *Demery*, 144 Wash.2d at 759, 30 P.3d 1278

(quoting *City of Seattle v. Heatley*, 70 Wash.App. 573, 577, 854 P.2d 658 (1993)). However, testimony that is based on inferences from the evidence is not improper opinion testimony. *Heatley*, 70 Wash.App. at 578, 854 P.2d 658. The fact that an opinion supports a finding of guilt does not make the opinion improper. *State v. Collins*, 152 Wash.App. 429, 436, 216 P.3d 463 (2009).

Here the testimony may have been in the form of opinion, but it was not an opinion that encompassed the ultimate issue of whether Luttrell was guilty of the assault. It related firsthand observations of the assault as it occurred and observations of the victim's behavior following. As a lay witness Mr. Mudge was allowed to make inferences based on his training and experience. ER 701. Moreover, as a witness to the actual crime he was allowed to relate those observations to the jury. ER 602.

Luttrell has failed to show 1) that the testimony was inappropriate, 2) that it was impermissible opinion testimony that encompassed an ultimate issue, and 3) that she suffered actual prejudice from the testimony. Therefore, Luttrell failed to show manifest error.

b. The testimony of Detective Webb was not an expression of opinion.

Detective Webb testified about the investigation he performed. He testified to the observations he made of both Luttrell and of the victim in

this case. RP 115-16. Luttrell claims that Detective Webb testified as to who was attacked. This claim is meritless.

It is true, that a law enforcement officer's opinion testimony may be especially prejudicial because the officer's testimony often carries a special aura of reliability. *Kirkman*, 159 Wn.2d at 928, 155 P.3d 125. But here, Detective Webb testified only about his observations of the two individuals involved in the altercation. He testified that he interviewed Luttrell and, when she was asked what happened, Luttrell immediately stated that she had been attacked. RP 114-15. When asked if Luttrell appeared as if she had been attacked, Detective Webb stated she did not. He said she did not have any cuts, bruises, scratches, swelling around her face, defensive marks on her arms or hands, and that she had no obvious signs of an attack. When asked about the victim in this case, he said that she had a lot of bruising on the right side of her face.

Again, Detective Webb did not give an opinion on any evidence. testimony that is not a direct comment on the defendant's guilt or on the veracity of a witness, is otherwise helpful to the jury, and is based on inferences from the evidence is not improper opinion testimony. *State v. Sanders*, 66 Wash.App. 380, 832 P.2d 1326 (1992); *Heatley*, 70 Wn.App. at 660-61; *see also State v. Jones*, 59 Wash.App. 744, 801 P.2d 263 (1990), *review denied*, 116 Wash.2d 1021, 811 P.2d 219 (1991) (in

manslaughter case, an expert's opinion based on physical evidence that injuries not accidental did not constitute inadmissible opinion on guilt). The trial court must be afforded broad discretion to determine the admissibility of ultimate issue testimony. *Jones*, 59 Wash.App. at 751, 801 P.2d 263. Indeed, appellate courts will not take an expansive view of claims that inferential testimony constitutes an opinion on guilt. *See State v. Wilber*, 55 Wash.App. 294, 298, 777 P.2d 36 (1989) (analyzing officers' testimony that "inferentially" constituted opinion on guilt as expert testimony under ER 702).

Here, Detective Webb provided his observations of any injuries he saw on the two women. He neither spoke of Luttrell's guilt or her veracity. *Demery*, 144 Wn.2d at 759. And he did not speak to his opinion as to her guilt by inference. *State v. Black*, 109 Wn.2d 336, 348, 745 P.2d 12 (1987). These observations were also supported by other testimony by other witnesses. Mr. Mudge described the blood that came from the victim's face, and the victim, Summer Baldwin, also described the bruising and the cuts to her face. Detective Webb's testimony did not inject his opinion in to the evidence, but merely described his observations. Consequently, Luttrell has failed to show how his testimony was impermissible opinion.

4. Luttrell has not established prejudice and has not shown prosecutorial misconduct.

To prevail on a claim of prosecutorial, Luttrell must establish that the prosecutor's conduct was both improper and prejudicial in the context of the entire record and the circumstances at trial. *State v. Magers*, 164 Wn.2d 174, 191, 189 P.3d 126 (2008). Luttrell establishes prejudice by proving there is a substantial likelihood that the instances of alleged misconduct affected the jury's verdict. *Magers*, 164 Wn.2d at 191, 189 P.3d 126.

Where a defendant objected to an alleged instance of misconduct, the court should evaluate the trial court's ruling for abuse of discretion. *State v. Gregory*, 158 Wn.2d 759, 809, 147 P.3d 1201 (2006).

The failure to object to an improper remark constitutes a waiver of error unless the remark is so flagrant and ill-intentioned that it causes an enduring and resulting prejudice that could not have been neutralized by an admonition to the jury. *State v. Russell*, 125 Wn.2d 24, 86, 882 P.2d 747 (1994) *cert denied*, 514 U.S. 1129, 115 S.Ct. 2004, 131 L.Ed.2d 1005 (1995).

a. Luttrell was not permitted to testify on the credibility of another witness.

Luttrell claims the State committed misconduct when it began an enquiry into the differences between her testimony and that of Mr. Mudge. This was not an improper enquiry, nor was it misconduct.

It is prosecutorial misconduct to ask a witness whether another witness is lying. *State v. Wright*, 76 Wash.App. 811, 821, 888 P.2d 1214 (1995). However, a prosecutor does not commit misconduct by asking a witness whether another witness was mistaken. Such questions do not have the potential to prejudice the defendant or show her in a bad light. *Wright*, 76 Wn.App. at 822. Regardless of these restrictions, the State is permitted to vigorously cross-examine a defendant in the same manner as any other witness who has voluntarily asserted their right to testify. *State v. Ethridge*, 74 Wn.2d 102, 113, 443 P.2d 536 (1968); *State v. Graham*, 59 Wn.App. 418, 427, 798 P.2d 314 (1990).

In *State v. Ramos*, 164 Wn.App. 327, 334-35, 263 P.3d 1268 (2011), the court held that asking the defendant whether another witness had a reason to testify untruthfully was improper, but not so flagrant and ill-intentioned that an instruction to the jury could not have cured any prejudice. There the prosecution asked the defendant whether a particular

witness had any reason to make up anything untrue about him. After objection, the prosecutor asked the defendant if he could think of any reason why that witness might be making up something untrue about him. 164 Wn.App. at 334. While not objected to, the court did find that prosecutor committed misconduct because it was asking a witness if another witness lied. *Id.* at 335.

In the current case, the State did not ask Luttrell whether another witness lied, or whether another witness had reason to lie. The State did attempt to discuss the inconsistencies between Luttrell's testimony and Mudge's testimony, because the testimony from both witnesses was inconsistent. The State can inquire about those inconsistencies in testimony; especially if the State does not enquire of the defendant about whether or not a particular witness was lying. However, due to sustained objections, the State was not permitted to even enquire about the inconsistencies between Luttrell's and Mudge's testimony.

Consequently, Luttrell has not shown how the State's enquiry requested testimony on another witness's veracity. Moreover, if considered misconduct, the timely objection by defense counsel was enough to cure any problem that may have arisen from the State's line of enquiry. *State v. Neidigh*, 78 Wn.App. 71, 77, 895 P.2d 423 (1995). Though the State did not ask liar type questions, those type of questions

are found to be harmless if they are not so egregious as to be incapable of cure by an objection and an appropriate instruction to the jury. *Neidigh*, 78 Wn.App. at 77.

b. The State is allowed to make an argument based on reasonable inferences.

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